Supreme Court case no. S211596

SUPREME COURT of CALIFORNIA

Tract 19051 Homeowners Association et al.,
Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

Maurice Kemp et al.,
Defendants and Respondents

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

TURNER LAW FIRM, APC
Keith J. Turner [SBN152685]
429 Santa Monica Blvd., Suite 500
Santa Monica, California 90401
Phone: 310.454.6190
Fax: 310.882.5563
Email: kjt@turnerlawapc.com

*Attorneys for Defendant, Court of Appeal Respondent and
Supreme Court Petitioner Eric Yeldell*

SUPREME COURT
FILED

OCT 31 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Supreme Court case no. S211596

SUPREME COURT of CALIFORNIA

Tract 19051 Homeowners Association et al.,
Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

ISSUE TO BE BRIEFED AND ARGUED

The issue this Court asked to be briefed and argued:

Is a prevailing homeowner entitled to attorney fees under Civil Code section 1354 in an action by the homeowners association to enforce its governing documents as those of a common interest development (CID) when the homeowner prevailed because it was later determined that the subdivision was not such a development and its governing documents had not been properly reenacted?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case revolves around interpreting Civil Code section 1354(c), which is part of the statutory regime covering common interest developments: “In an action to enforce the governing documents, the prevailing party shall be awarded reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.” A straightforward construction of this statute would conclude that the provision is mandatory, and it is reciprocal. That means that either a prevailing plaintiff or a prevailing defendant is entitled to recover attorney fees. But that is not what happened here.

The plaintiffs sued to enforce the homeowners association’s governing documents and lost because the trial court determined the subdivision was not a common interest development. Not surprisingly, the court awarded petitioner and defendant Eric Yeldell his attorney fees. The Court of Appeal, however, took a surprising turn. Although it affirmed Yeldell’s judgment, it reversed his fee award, holding that since there was no common interest development, he was not entitled to a fee award under section 1354(c).

That is not a proper construction of the statute and should not be the law regarding this bilateral attorney fees provision.

First, the plain language of section 1354(c) leads to the conclusion that a prevailing defendant should recover his attorney fees. The statute says that “the prevailing party” is entitled to recover, not the “prevailing defendant” or “prevailing plaintiff” (as some fee statutes do). Thus, the statute is reciprocal, not unilateral. The statute also says the party “shall” recover his fees. This means recovery is mandatory, not discretionary. And finally, the statute covers any “action to enforce the governing documents” of the subdivision. Recovery is hinged solely on the basis of plaintiff’s action, not whether a court ultimately determines that the subdivision is a common interest development.

Under settled rules of statutory construction, this Court need not go any further. The plain language of the statute provides our answer.

But other considerations also support Yeldell’s construction of section 1354(c). As this Court has explained (in the Civil Code section 1717 context), the primary purpose for the Legislature to make an attorney fees provision reciprocal is to ensure mutuality of remedy for the parties. If both sides have an even-handed chance to recover attorney fees if they prevail, it prevents parties from making oppressive use of one-sided attorney fees provisions. Such a concern is particularly acute when you have a lone homeowner (like Yeldell) arrayed against a homeowner’s association and multiple individual homeowners.

In addition, the mutuality of remedy rationale reasons that if an opposing party would have been able to recover fees under the statute, then the statute must be seen as being reciprocal. Here, no one disputes that the association plaintiffs would have been

able to recover their attorney fees had the trial court found there was a common interest development and that Yeldell had violated some restriction levied by the association. The reverse must be true as well: Since Yeldell prevailed, he should recover his attorney fees.

A contrary interpretation leads to the absurd results that are not favored in statutory construction. The most absurd of the results of the Court of Appeal's construction of section 1354(c) is that it favors plaintiffs suing under a questionable common interest development ("CID") over plaintiffs suing under a genuine CID. The genuine plaintiffs, if they lose, will have to pay the prevailing defendant's attorney fees while the false CID plaintiffs do not. That cannot be what the Legislature intended in section 1354(c).

Finally, the Court of Appeal's heavy reliance on its earlier ruling in *Mount Olympus Property Owners Assn. v. Shpirt* (1997) 59 Cal.App.4th 885 is wholly misplaced. First, *Mount Olympus* concerned whether a prevailing plaintiff could recover attorney fees, not the issue here, namely whether a prevailing defendant can obtain fees when it is determined there is no common interest development. Second, that court engaged in no analysis and no statutory construction of section 1354—that lack of analysis undercuts any force of its assumption that if there is no CID there are no fees. *Mount Olympus* is inapplicable, and even if it does apply, it is not persuasive and wrongly decided based on the analysis above.

This Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's ruling and construe section 1354(c) to mean what it plainly says: A prevailing defendant is entitled to recover his fees if the plaintiff is suing to enforce the governing documents, regardless of whether it

is ultimately determined that there is a common interest development.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was filed in 2008 to enforce the governing documents¹ of a single-family home subdivision of 94 homes in the Baldwin Vista area of Los Angeles, known as Tract No. 19051. (Ct.App. Decision, p. 5.) The plaintiffs were the subdivision's voluntary homeowners association (which is open to homeowners in Tract 19051 and some adjacent tracts), along with 52 individual lot owners (collectively "the Association"). (Decision, pp. 2 and 6.) The defendant owned one of the lots in Tract 19051.² (Decision, p. 5.)

The governing documents that the Association was suing to enforce were the Declaration of Restrictions ["DORs"], which the developer had recorded in 1958 when it created Tract 19051. (Decision, pp. 2 and 5.) The Association claimed that Yeldell's remodeling project violated the two-story height restriction in the DORs, even though other homes in the subdivision already violated that restriction.³

¹ Civil Code section 1351(j) provides: "'Governing documents' means the declaration and any other documents, such as bylaws, operating rules of the association, articles of incorporation, or articles of association, which govern the operation of the common interest development or association." (Civil Code, § 1351, subd. (j).)

² The originally named defendant was Maurice Kemp, the then owner of Lots 22 in Tract No. 19051. Before the case was tried, Kemp defaulted on his construction loan. Petitioner Eric Yeldell purchased Kemp's home at a trustee's foreclosure sale and was granted leave to intervene in this action.

³ At least eight other two-story homes had been constructed in Tract 19051 (Lots 2, 4, 15, 33, 34, 37, 46, and 66). (RA 46-63; 224-25, 229-234.) After the appeal was filed, the Association's attorney, Ken Mifflin, and/or his wife began constructing their own two-story home in the tract. (RA 70-78.)

The DORs “expired by its own terms on January 1, 2000, and contained no provision for extending that date.” (Decision, pp. 2-3.) As the Court of Appeal explained, a “declaration of restrictions may be extended (1) by the unanimous vote of 100 percent of the property owners; (2) by the vote of a lesser number of owners as provided in the declaration; or (3) in common interest developments only, by compliance with specified statutory procedures. It is undisputed that the first two methods of extending a declaration are inapplicable to this case. As to the third method, the parties agree that the sole statutory procedure that applies, if at all, is found in section 1357.” (Decision, p. 3, citation omitted.) Section 1357, which is part of *Davis-Stirling Common Interest Development Act* (Civil Code §§ 1350 *et seq.*) (the “Act”), provides that if a declaration for a common interest development does “not provide a means for the property owners to extend the term of the declaration,” the term can be extended “if owners having more than 50 percent of the votes in the association choose to do so.” (Civil Code § 1357.)

The Association alleged that “[o]n December 30, 1999, pursuant to Civil Code Section 1357, upon a vote of more than 50% approval of the lot owners and Association members, the Association recorded an Amendment extending the CC&Rs [DORs] for a period of 11 years, to December 31, 2010.” (RA 117, ¶14.) Thus, since the DORs had expired long before this suit was filed, the main issue in the case was whether Tract No. 19051 was “common interest development” under Act and whether the section 1357 procedure could be used to extend its governing documents.

The trial court and the Court of Appeal both held that whether Tract 19051's DORs were properly renewed and enforceable depended on whether the subdivision is a "common interest development" under the Act, "such that the majority's renewal of the declaration was permitted by Civil Code section 1357.1" (Decision, pp. 2, 10-12.) The trial court denied the Association's separate requests for a TRO and a preliminary injunction, because the Association could not establish that Tract 19051 was a common interest development. (Decision, p. 6.) In ruling on the merits later, the trial court found that the subdivision is not a common interest development, in part because there were no common areas and membership in the association was voluntary. (Decision, pp. 8-10.) As a result, section 1357 did not apply and the alleged renewal of the declaration was ineffectual. (Decision, pp. 8-10.) Because the DORs had expired, the trial court entered judgment for Yeldell. The Court of Appeal agreed that the subdivision was not a common interest development and thus affirmed that judgment. (Decision, pp. 2, 10-12.)

The Association sought to recover its attorney fees pursuant to section 1354(c). (Decision, p. 7.) Before Yeldell intervened in the action, the Association had obtained an interlocutory judgment, which included an award of \$112,000 in attorney fees to the Association under section 1354(c). (Decision, p. 7.) That interlocutory judgment and the attorney fees award were later vacated by the trial court. After the eventual trial on the merits ended in Yeldell's favor, he was awarded his attorney fees.

Although the Court of Appeal affirmed Yeldell's judgment, it reversed his attorney fee award, relying on its previous *Mount Olympus* decision. (Decision, pp. 12-13.) That attorney fee reversal prompted Yeldell's petition for review with this Court.

ARGUMENT

I. **YELDELL, AS THE PREVAILING PARTY, SHOULD RECOVER HIS ATTORNEY FEES UNDER SECTION 1354(c), REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE SUBDIVISION IS ULTIMATELY DETERMINED TO BE A COMMON INTEREST DEVELOPMENT.**

Yeldell, as the “prevailing party,” is entitled to his attorney fees under Civil Code section 1354(c), because that statute’s language is mandatory and reciprocal. That right should *not* be defeated or precluded because it was determined that the subdivision was not a common interest development, nor because its governing documents had not been properly reenacted.

A. **The General Rules On Attorney Fees (The “American Rule”) And On Statutory Construction.**

California follows what is commonly referred to as the American Rule, which provides that each party in a lawsuit must ordinarily pay his own attorney fees." (*Trope v. Katz* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 274, 278-79 (“*Trope*”).) The American Rule is codified in Code of Civil Procedure section 1021, which provides: “Except as attorney's fees are specifically provided for by statute, the measure and mode of compensation of attorneys and counselors at law is left to the agreement, express or implied, of the parties. . . .” (Code Civ. Proc., § 1021.) The Legislature has created various exceptions to the American Rule by enacting various attorney fees statutes. (See *Stirling v.*

Agricultural Labor Relations Bd. (1987) 189 Cal.App.3d 1305, 1311 (“*Stirling*”) [citing over 25 examples of statutory “prevailing party” attorney fees provisions, such as Civil Code §§ 55, 86, 789.3(d) & 815.7].) In addition, based on its “inherent equitable authority,” this Court has created judicial exceptions that provide recovery of attorney fees to prevailing parties. (*Trope*, 11 Cal.4th at pp. 278-79.)

Civil Code section 1354(c) is one of the Legislature-created attorney fees provisions. “In an *action to enforce the governing documents*, the prevailing party *shall* be awarded reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.” (Civil Code § 1354(c), emphasis added.) The fundamental issue here thus involves construing this statute.

The Court’s “primary task in construing a statute is to determine the Legislature’s intent.” (*Jarrow Formulas, Inc. v. LaMarche* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 728, 733 (“*Jarrow Formulas*”).) “The plain language of the statute establishes what was intended by the Legislature.” (*Id.* at p. 735.) “To discover that intent we first look to the words of the statute, giving them their usual and ordinary meaning.” (*Trope*, 11 Cal.4th at p. 279, citations omitted.) “If the language is clear and unambiguous there is no need for construction, nor is it necessary to resort to [extrinsic] indicia of the intent of the Legislature....” (*Jarrow Formulas*, 31 Cal.4th at p. 735.) “In interpreting that language [of the statute], we strive to give effect and significance to every word and phrase.” (*Copley Press, Inc. v. Superior Court* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 1272, 1284 (“*Copley Press*”).)

“Well-established canons of statutory construction preclude a construction [that] renders a part of a statute meaningless or inoperative.” (*Copley Press*, 39 Cal.4th at p. 1285.) Also, “[i]f the statutory language is ambiguous and susceptible of differing

constructions, we may reasonably infer that the legislators intended an interpretation producing practical and workable results rather than one resulting in mischief or absurdity.” (*City of Santa Monica v. Gonzalez* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 905, 919 (“*City of Santa Monica*”).)

B. The Plain Language Of Section 1354(c) Shows It Is Reciprocal And Mandatory In Any Suit Seeking To Enforce Governing Documents.

The language in section 1354(c) is straightforward. It says that a “prevailing party” in an action to enforce governing documents “shall” be awarded attorney fees. It is patent, then, that the Legislature’s intent was to create a reciprocal and a mandatory attorney fees provision. In fact, the terms “prevailing party” and “shall” are used in many attorney fees statutes and contractual provisions.

One example is Civil Code section 55, which provides that “[t]he prevailing party in the action” under section 55 “shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorney’s fees.” (Civil Code § 55.) This Court recently described Section 55 as being a “broadly worded two-way fee-shifting clause.” (*Jankey v. Song Koo Lee* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 1038, 1045 (“*Jankey*”). *Jankey* held that fee-shifting applied to a prevailing defendant because “[t]wo aspects of the plain language of section 55 are dispositive.” (*Id.* at pp. 1045-46.)

1. “Prevailing party” means that the statute is reciprocal—either a prevailing plaintiff or a prevailing defendant can recover.

The first dispositive aspect was that the statute allowed fees for a “prevailing party,” not just a prevailing plaintiff. “The Legislature knows how to write both unilateral fee statutes, which afford fees to either plaintiffs or defendants, and bilateral

fee statutes, which may afford fees to both plaintiffs and defendants.” (*Jankey*, 55 Cal.4th at p. 1045.) ““When the Legislature intends that the successful side shall recover its attorney fees no matter who brought the legal proceeding, it typically uses the term ‘prevailing party.’”” (*Id.*, quoting *Stirling*, 189 Cal.App.3d at p. 1311.) *Stirling* listed many examples of statutory “prevailing party” attorney fees provisions: Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 7044, 7169; Civil Code §§ 55, 86, 789.3(d), 815.7, 1584.5, 1584.6, 1714.1(b), 1717, 1717.5, 1811.1, 1942.5, 2983.4 & 3250; Code Civ. Proc., §§ 128.5, 396b, 527.6(h), 547(e), 731.5, 1021.4, 1021.6 & 1032(b); Gov’t Code §§ 19765 & 91012; Pub. Contract Code § 20464; Pub. Resources Code § 25455; Pub. Util. Code § 453.

Other attorney fees provisions authorize a fee award only to one side by using such terms as “plaintiff” or “defendant.” (*Compare* statutes that provide attorney fees to only the plaintiff [*see e.g.*, Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 7398 & 21140.4; Civil Code § 52(a) & 1785.31(d)] *with* statutes that provide attorney fees to only the defendant [*see e.g.*, Code Civ. Proc., §§ 391(c), 399, 490.020, 585.5(e), 1021.7, 1030 & 1235.140; Prob. Code, § 703[.]

A third variety of attorney fees statutes are a “hybrid” between reciprocal and unilateral. The hybrid statute usually operates as a unilateral statute, awarding attorney fees only to a prevailing plaintiff, but in the case where the plaintiff’s claims were not brought in good faith, it operates *against* the plaintiff by awarding award attorney fees to a prevailing defendant. (*See e.g.*, Civil Code §§ 1780(e), 1785.31 & 1788.30(c).)

Section 1354(c) plainly falls into the first category since it uses “prevailing party,” and thus, as in *Jankey*, attorney fees should be awarded to a prevailing defendant (like

Yeldell).

2. “Shall” means Yeldell’s fee recovery is not discretionary but mandatory.

The second dispositive aspect of section 55 emphasized by *Jankey* is the mandatory language: “*shall* be awarded reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.” (*Jankey*, 55 Cal.4th at pp. 1045-46, emphasis added.) This Court explained “that the Legislature has routinely and clearly differentiated, using ‘may’ in circumstances where it intends a fee award to be discretionary and ‘shall’ in circumstances where it intends an award to be mandatory.”⁴ (*Id.* at p. 1046)

Section 1354(c) also uses this mandatory language, “shall.” As with section 55, a fee award under section 1354(c) cannot be seen as discretionary.

Thus, applying the lessons from *Jankey* and similar cases, it is inescapable that the Legislature chose in section 1354(c) to enact a reciprocal and a mandatory fee statute, granting both prevailing defendants and plaintiffs the right to a fee award. Since Yeldell was a prevailing defendant, section 1354(c) should apply to him.

3. Since the Association sued to “enforce the governing documents,” namely the DORs, section 1354(c) is triggered.

The language of section 1354(c) covers “an action to enforce the governing documents.” The Association filed this action to enforce the governing documents,

⁴ Compare, e.g., Civil Code, § 52.1(h) [“the court may award the petitioner or plaintiff reasonable attorney’s fees”] and Civil Code, § 3426.4 [“the court may award reasonable attorney’s fees”] with Civil Code, § 1785.31 (d) [“prevailing plaintiffs ... shall be entitled to recover ... reasonable attorney’s fees”] and Civil Code, § 3344 (a) [prevailing party “shall ... be entitled to attorney’s fees”].

namely the DORs (specifically, the height and setback restrictions in the DORs). (Decision, p. 5.) Thus, the reciprocal, mandatory fee-shifting should kick in, whether the Association or Yeldell prevailed.

Nothing in the language of section 1354(c) says that it only applies if the plaintiff proves there is a common interest development. Indeed, as discussed more fully below, neither case law nor a logical interpretation of section 1354(c) provides for an exception to reciprocal fee-shifting in an action to enforce governing documents when it is later determined that the association, development, subdivision or tract was not a common interest development. Such an exception would not make any sense. If the Legislature creates a reciprocal and mandatory fee-shifting statute, it is meant to cover *any* suit within that subject area, because that will discourage both frivolous pursuit and frivolous defense of such a suit. How the merits of the suit actually come out, and thus whether the rest of the statutory regime applies is irrelevant to whether the fee statute (and its purpose of discouraging frivolous litigation) applies.

C. Section 1354(c) Should Apply To A Prevailing Defendant Like Yeldell, Because That Ensures The “Mutuality of Remedy” That Facilitates Accomplishing The Statute’s Purposes.

As already explained, the statutory language “prevailing party” makes an attorney fee provision (like section 1354(c)) mutual or reciprocal. The “primary purpose” or “fundamental purpose” of making an attorney fees provision mutual or reciprocal is “to ensure mutuality of remedy for attorney fee claims ...” (*Santisas v. Goodin* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 599, 610 (“*Santisas*”); accord *International Industries, Inc. v. Olen* (1978) 21

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