S211596

In the
Supreme Court
of the
State of California

SUPREME COURT
CRC FILED
8.25(b)
FEB 10 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk
Deputy

TRACT 19051 HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, et al.,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

MAURICE KEMP, et al.,

Defendants-Respondents.

CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL · SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT · NO. B235015
SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES · HON. RICHARD L. FRUIN, JR · NO. BC398978

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KEN MIFFLIN, ESQ. (170599)
LAW OFFICE OF MIFFLIN &
ASSOCIATES
4309 South Western Avenue
Los Angeles, California 90062
(323) 291-1221 Telephone
(323) 291-1253 Facsimile

*Attorney for Plaintiffs-Appellants,
Tract 19051 Homeowners Association, et al.*

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY DECLINED TO APPLY A FEE-SHIFTING STATUTE FROM THE DAVIS-STIRLING ACT¹ AFTER FINDING THAT THE ACT HAS NO APPLICATION TO THE CASE.

Defendants persist in advancing the fatally flawed argument that the fee-shifting statute in the Act applies even when the Act does not. The fatal defect in their contention ignores the nature of their defense; Defendants claim that the Davis-Stirling Act does not apply at all, in any way, shape, or form, to this case. Having succeeded in advancing that claim, Defendants cannot now argue that the Act does apply when it comes to shifting liability for attorneys' fees. As detailed below, the plain language of the Act and common sense confirm that the Court of Appeal's decision should be affirmed.

A. The American Rule and Statutory Construction in California.

California law follows the American Rule that attorney's fees are generally not recoverable as costs unless authorized by statute or the parties' agreement. Code of Civil Procedure ("CCP") § 1021; *Chinn v. KMR Property Management* (2008) 166 Cal. App. 4th 175, 190. Thus, absent an agreement by the parties or a statute expressly authorizing fee shifting, each party bears its own attorney's fees.

Under California law, statutes are interpreted by looking at their words, which provide the most reliable indicator of the legislature's intent. *In re Ethan C.* (2012) 54 Cal. 4th 610, 627. The statute's words are given their "usual and ordinary" meaning, and they are construed in light of the

¹ The Act has since been amended, effective January 1, 2014, by 2012 Cal ALS 180 (Statutes 2012 ch 180 § 1 (AB 805)). All references to the Act herein refer to the prior version applicable to this case.

statute as a whole and its purpose. *Id.* Absent ambiguity, the plain meaning of the statute's language governs. *Id.*

Defendants do not dispute this, and in fact agree. (AOB at pp. 7-9). But, after paying lip service to these principles, Defendants proceed to ignore them in offering a tortured interpretation of the Davis-Stirling Act which may be summed up as "the parts of the Act we like apply even when the Act itself does not." As detailed below, the Court of Appeal correctly rejected this result.

B. The Relevant Language of the Davis-Stirling Act.

Section 1354(c) of the Act is the statutes fee shifting provision. It provides that "[i]n an action to enforce the governing documents, the prevailing party shall be awarded reasonable attorney's fees and costs." Civil Code § 1354(c) (emphasis added).

In addition, Section 1352 of the Act provides, in relevant part, that:

This title applies and a common interest development is created whenever a separate interest coupled with an interest in the common area or membership in the association is, or has been, conveyed, provided, all of the following are recorded:

- (a) A declaration.
- (b) A condominium plan, if any exists.
- (c) A final map or parcel map, if Division 2 (commencing with Section 66410) of Title 7 of the Government Code requires the recording of either a final map or parcel map for the common interest development.

Civil Code § 1352. Section 1374 further provides that the Act does not apply where there is no common interest development ("CID"):

Nothing in this title may be construed to apply to a development wherein there does not exist a common area as defined in subdivision (b) of Section 1351.

Civil Code § 1374 (emphasis added). Applying the plain and unambiguous meaning of these words, the Court of Appeal correctly determined that Section 1354(c) had no application in this case after it determined that there was no “common area” that qualified Tract 19051 as a CID.

C. Defendants’ Tortured Interpretation of Section 1354(c) was Properly Rejected.

The Court of Appeal correctly held that Defendants could not invoke Section 1354(c) after having convinced the courts below that the Act was not applicable to Tract 19051. This interpretation is obvious from the Act’s plain language. As discussed below, none of Defendants’ specious arguments that an inapplicable statute should be applied to shift the obligation to pay attorney’s fees has merit. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals judgment should be affirmed.

1. By the Act’s plain language, Section 1354(c) does not apply where the Davis-Stirling Act does not apply to the case.

It is axiomatic that, if the Davis-Stirling Act does not apply to Plaintiffs or defendants in this case because there was never a compliant planned development, then its fee shifting provision does not apply either. In order for § 1354(c) to apply, there must be an action to “enforce” governing documents. This necessarily means that there must be valid “governing documents” that are compliant with the Davis-Stirling Act to be “enforced” in the first instance. Otherwise, the Act never applies, and the general rule that fees are not recoverable controls. Code of Civil Procedure § 1021; *Chinn*, 166 Cal. App. 4th at 190. If there is nothing to “enforce”, then there can be no action to “enforce”.

Defendants “heads I win, tails you lose” argument, while an elegant piece of sophistry, is unavailing. Defendants misrepresent that a prevailing defendant could never recover attorney’s fees under § 1354(c) if they are not allowed to recover them. For example, had the trial court determined

that Tract 19051 was in fact a planned development under the Act, but the Defendants had not violated the DORs, then Defendants would have prevailed in an action to “enforce” the DORs. Defendants defense to this action, however, was that there were no DOR’s to enforce because they had expired, and the Act did not apply to this case at all. Having prevailed in their assertion that the Act is not applicable, they cannot no argue that the Act does apply because they perceive an advantage in doing so. Defendants should not be permitted to cherry-pick which portions of the Act do or do not apply to the case.

The plain language of Sections 1352 and 1374 reinforces this interpretation. Section 1352 states, without qualification, that “[t]his title applies...” only when the conditions necessary to create a CID are met. Here, the lower courts both concluded that Tract 19051 was not a CID. Therefore, the Act – including its fee-shifting provision – is inapplicable.

Similarly, the Legislature left no room for misunderstanding in Section 1374, expressly stating, again without qualification, that “[n]othing in this title may be construed to apply to a development wherein there does not exist a common area as defined in subdivision (b) of Section 1351.” Civil Code § 1374 (emphasis added). “Nothing in this title may be construed to apply to a development” that is not a CID is plain, unambiguous, and unequivocal, and obviously includes Section 1354(c). Defendants claim, without pointing to any limiting language in the sections themselves or to any other authority, that the words in these sections mean something other than what they say, and that the fee-shifting provision is carved out from these exclusions. Not so.

Indeed, the only way to reach the twisted interpretation Defendants advance is to impermissibly read words into the Act that are not there. It should be presumed that the legislature intended to say what it said, and that it would have carved out an exception for the fee-shifting statute or

drafted it differently if it intended for the statute to apply regardless of whether or not there was a CID. *Richards, Watson & Gershon v. King* (1995) 39 Cal. App. 4th 1176, 1179 (if legislature had intended mandatory dismissal, it would have said so); *Hunt v. Alum Rock Union Elementary Sch. Dist.* (1970) 7 Cal. App. 3d 612, 614 (if the legislature had intended to make increments mandatory, it would have said so). “In order to construe a statute as imposing a mandatory duty, the mandatory nature of the duty must be phrased in explicit and forceful language.” *Quackenbush v. Superior Court* (1997) 57 Cal. App. 4th 660, 663. No “explicit and forceful language” is found in the Act making the fee-shifting provision applicable even where the Act itself does not apply.

Here, if the legislature had intended for attorneys’ fees to be awarded under the Act, even when the Act was deemed not to apply, it would have expressly said so. For example, it would have said something like, “in any action brought under this Act, the prevailing party shall be awarded reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.” Or it would have added language excepting the fee-shifting provision from the blanket prohibition in Section 1374. Instead, the legislature very carefully carved out a limited set of circumstances when attorneys fees would be available under the Act, and that was “[i]n an action to enforce the governing documents, the prevailing party shall be awarded reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.” Civil Code § 1354(c) (emphasis added). This presumes that the Act is applicable in the first instance. This interpretation is reinforced by the Legislature’s strict instruction that no part of the Act may be applied where there is no CID. Civil Code § 1374.

Where, as here, there are no CC&Rs to “enforce” under the Act, then § 1354(c) is not applicable. *Blue Lagoon Cmty. Ass'n v. Mitchell* (1997) 55 Cal. App. 4th 472; *Mount Olympus Property Owners Ass'n v. Shpirt* (1997) 59 Cal. App. 4th 885, 892-897. In *Blue Lagoon*, the court noted that §

1354(c) did not apply to allow the prevailing objectants to recover their fees in defeating a petition under § 1356 because the matter did not involve the enforcement of any governing documents within the meaning of § 1354(c). *Id.* at 476-478. In reaching this conclusion, the court expressly rejected the argument that “equitable principles” could be used to render § 1354(c) applicable to a situation where it did not apply on its face. Contrary to Defendants’ protestations, this case is applicable here, and demonstrates that the judgment for attorney’s fees should be reversed.

Similarly, in *Mount Olympus*, the Court of Appeal held that it was error to award fees under the predecessor section of Section 1354(c), which was substantially similar in language, where there was no CID. *Mount Olympus, supra*. Defendants’ attempts to discredit this decision impugn the Court of Appeal’s intelligence and integrity. The interpretation is consistent with the statutory language, as discussed above, and the Court of Appeal clearly considered the interplay between the relevant portions of the Act. Indeed, it appears that this Court at least tacitly approved the interpretation, as it denied review of *Mount Olympus*. *Mount Olympus Prop. Owners Ass’n v. Shpirt* (Feb. 25, 1998) Cal. LEXIS 1338.

Moreover, where, as here, the statute is used defensively and the language authorizing recovery of attorney’s fees is limited to “actions to enforce”, an award of attorney’s fees is not authorized. *Gil v. Mansano* (2004) 121 Cal. App. 4th 739, 744-745. While broad statutory language like “in any action” will authorize an award of fees when the statute is used defensively, “[n]arrow statutory language limited to ‘actions to enforce’ does not authorize attorney fee awards where the statute is used defensively.” *Id.* (citing specifically to Civil Code § 1354(f), which is § 1354 (c)’s predecessor). Section 1354(c) is specifically limited on its face to “actions to enforce”. It is undisputed that Defendants were not seeking to enforce the DORs here. Rather, they successfully advanced the claim

that the DORs were invalid under the Act. Accordingly, their defensive use of the Act cannot be the basis for an attorney's fees award. *Id.* Therefore, the judgment awarding attorney's fees was properly reversed.

Defendants also persist in misrepresenting that a prevailing defendant could never recover attorney's fees under § 1354(c) if Defendants themselves are not allowed to have their cake and eat it too. This argument is fatally defective because it ignores the far more frequent scenario where the parties are not claiming that the Act is inapplicable, but are instead advancing competing interpretations of the DORs. For example, had the trial court determined that Tract 19051 was in fact a planned development under the Act, but the Defendants had not violated the DORs, then Defendants would have prevailed in an action to "enforce" the DORs. In such cases, it makes perfect sense for a defendant to recover attorneys' fees as a prevailing party, because the Act applies, and it provides for attorneys' fees to the prevailing party in any action to "enforce" the DORs.

Here, however, Defendants claimed that there were no DOR's to enforce because they had expired, and the Act did not apply to this case at all. Having prevailed in their assertion that the Act is not applicable, they cannot now argue that the Act does apply because they perceive an advantage in doing so. Defendants should not be permitted to cherry-pick which portions of the Act do or do not apply to the case.

2. Mutuality of Remedy has no application here and, in any event, conflicts with the statute's plain language.

Defendants' musings on mutuality of remedy, which is a contract law doctrine, are simply inapplicable when the statute containing the fee-shifting provision relied upon does not apply to the case. Equitable principles may not be used to invoke application of an otherwise inapplicable fee shifting statute. *Blue Lagoon, supra*. Moreover, the policy

considerations that give rise to the mutuality of remedy doctrine in the contract context do not apply here, as there is no unequal bargaining power, oppression, or leverage involved in the Legislature's enactment of a statute. The Legislature carefully drafted Section 1354(c) to apply in narrowly tailored situations. This case is not one of them. Defendants gripe should be with the Legislature.

All of the cases Defendants rely upon to advance this argument are therefore inapposite, as this is not a contract matter. Defendants do not cite any authority for the novel proposition that courts should be permitted to rewrite statutes to impose mutuality of remedy where the Legislature has decided that the fee-shifting statute may only be applied in certain limited circumstances. Indeed, such an argument would run afoul of California law regarding statutory interpretation and separation of powers. Civil Code § 1717 is a broadly worded statute, affording relief "in any action on a contract..." Meanwhile, Section 1354(c) is expressly limited to "an action to enforce the governing documents" of a CID, and the Act expressly states without qualification that no part of the Act shall apply where there is no CID. This limiting language makes Section 1354(c) a narrowly tailored fee-shifting statute that may not be used defensively. *Mansano*, 121 Cal. App. 4th at 744-745. Here, Defendants' claim that Plaintiffs' suit was frivolous has no support in law or fact, as there has never been a finding that Plaintiffs' suit was frivolous, and the mere fact that they did not prevail does not make it so.

3. The result here is neither absurd nor wasteful, as it is the precise result the Legislature intended.

Defendants' claim that not allowing them to disregard the Legislature's intent and the plain words of the Davis-Stirling Act in order to contrive a justification for an attorneys' fee award would lead to "absurd results" is itself absurd. First, as stated above, the Act's statutory scheme

makes it clear that the Legislature expressly intended that Section 1354(c) would not apply where there was no CID. Civil Code §§ 1351, 1354(c), 1374. It is hardly absurd that the result is exactly what was intended. Again, Defendants' gripe is with the Legislature if it finds the result here distasteful.

Moreover, as discussed above, Defendants' ramblings about "legitimacy," perceived lack of merit, and frivolity are nothing more than self-serving rants. Defendants have the audacity to assume that, merely because they ultimately prevailed, Plaintiffs' claims were illegitimate or frivolous. Not so. Again, Defendants' claim that Plaintiffs' suit was frivolous has no support in law or fact, as there has never been a finding that Plaintiffs' suit was frivolous, and the mere fact that they did not prevail does not make it so. Nor is there any indication of oppression or other nefarious motives behind the litigation. This is nothing more than a legitimate dispute over legal questions. The mere fact that the courts ultimately agreed with Defendants does not make Plaintiffs' position frivolous, or their suing to enforce the DORs improper.

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